SUPREME COURT FILED

Case No. S226538

AUG 2 4 2015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy CRC 8.25(b)

DELANO FARMS COMPANY, FOUR STAR FRUIT, INC., GERAWAN FARMING, INC., BIDART BROS., AND BLANC VINEYARDS

Plaintiffs and Petitioners,

ν.

CALIFORNIA TABLE GRAPE COMMISSION

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

Case No. F067956

Petitioners' Opening Brief on the Merits

BRIAN C. LEIGHTON Attorney At Law 701 Pollasky Avenue Clovis, California 93612 Telephone: (559) 297-6190 Facsimile: (559) 297-6194 brian@lawleighton.com MICHAEL W. McCONNELL*
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
655 15th Street NW #1200
Washington, D.C. 20005

ISSUES ON REVIEW

As stated in our Petition for Review, the issues on review are as follows:

- 1. Whether, consistent with free speech principles under Article I of the California Constitution, state-empowered industry boards may compel unwilling parties to contribute to their commercial advertising without serious constitutional scrutiny, even if they are not themselves subject to actual supervision and control by democratically accountable officials.
- 2. Whether state courts should adhere to precedent of the California Supreme Court, rather than defer to lower federal courts on questions of state constitutional law.

As stated in the Answer to Petition for Review, the issues on review are as follows:

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeal correctly rejected petitioners'
 Free Speech challenge to mandatory assessments payable to the California
 Table Grape Commission ("Commission") where:
- (a) the Commission's promotion program is effectively controlled by the California Department of Food and Agriculture ("CDFA");

- (b) as an alternative basis for the judgment, the Commission is itself a government entity whose Commissioners are all appointed and subject to removal by CDFA's Secretary; and
- (c) as an alternative basis for the judgment, the summary judgment record establishes that the Commission's promotion work is narrowly tailored to the State's important interest in preserving and expanding demand for California table grapes.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeal erred where—in adjudicating the government speech doctrine under the Free Speech Clause of the California Constitution—it gave respectful consideration to the Ninth Circuit's interpretation of the same doctrine under the First Amendment for persuasive value.

INTRODUCTION

Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have long recognized the threat to freedom of speech when essentially private industry groups are delegated the power to legally compel *all* participants in the industry to support advertising that serves the interests only of *some*. The U.S. Supreme Court has held one such program unconstitutional and this Court has required that such programs be held to heightened constitutional scrutiny. (*United States v. United Foods* (2001) 533 U.S. 405; *Gerawan Farming, Inc. v. Lyons* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 468 (*Gerawan I*); *Gerawan*

Farming, Inc. v. Kawamura (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1 (Gerawan II).) Entities like the California Table Grape Commission ("TGC" or "the Commission") occupy a dangerous middle ground between public and private; they are able to pursue essentially private objectives, but with the full power of the state to enforce their will. They are subject to the discipline neither of the market nor of the ballot box. This Court has made clear that the only way this kind of program can be conducted consistently with the free speech clause of the California Constitution is to subject the conduct of the program to active supervision and genuine control by democratically accountable officials. The U.S. Supreme Court similarly upheld the constitutionality of compelled contributions to advertising of the national Beef Board precisely because of active control by federal officials over "every word" of the advertising. (See Johanns v. Livestock Marketing Association (2005) 544 U.S. 550.)¹

The court below did not see it that way. Misled by a Ninth Circuit opinion upholding the TGC's actions under the federal Constitution, based on a patently erroneous interpretation of *Johanns*, (see Delano Farms v. California Table Grape Commission (9th Cir. 2009) 586 F.3d 1219, 1229), the court below held that the TGC may compel these plaintiffs to contribute to its advertising program, which benefits TGC members but hurts these

Similar concerns about such entities exist under the antitrust laws. (See North Carolina State Bd. of Dental Examiners v. FTC (2014) 135 S.Ct. 1101.)

plaintiffs, even when the relevant politically accountable body, the California Department of Food and Agriculture ("CDFA") exercises no actual supervision or control.

Much of this brief will be devoted to a detailed description of the operations of the TGC and the CDFA, to make clear that the TGC, in actual practice, is effectively autonomous. But this is undisputed. The court below acknowledged that, "[u]nlike the [federal] Beef Order [upheld in Johanns], [California law] does not require any type of review by the Secretary over the actual messages promulgated by the Commission." (Delano Farms Co. v. California Table Grape Commission (2015) 185 Cal.Rptr.3d 771, 779.) "The Beef Board and the Operating Committee submit all plans to the U.S. Secretary of Agriculture for final approval"; the Table Grape Commission does not. (Ibid.) In point of fact, the CDFA does not even see the advertising before it is run, and has no way to know whether it is promoting the private interests of the dominant players of the TGC to the injury of independents like the plaintiffs. The court below held that this does not matter: "Even if the Secretary does not exercise this authority and intervene in message development," the constitutional requirements were satisfied. (*Ibid.*)

That is the issue presented. Plaintiffs contend that unless the CDFA is required to review and approve TGC's messages and in fact (not in theory) does so, the free speech inquiry demanded by *Gerawan I* and *Gerawan II* is applicable. The TGC, defending the court below, contends that no

constitutional scrutiny is necessary so long as the members of the TGC are appointed by the CDFA and the CDFA has authority to review the message in exceptional cases, even if that authority is never exercised. The governing precedents of both this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court show that the TGC is wrong.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Plaintiffs and the Table Grape Commission

Plaintiffs Delano Farms Company, Blanc Vineyards, LLC, Gerawan Farming, Inc., Four Star Fruit, Inc., and Bidart Brothers, are independent grape farmers and shippers who do business in the competitive agricultural industry of California. All are family businesses, and some have been operating in the state for decades. All of the plaintiffs grow, market, and ship their own grapes. (13 CT 3106:25-3107:1; 1 CT 158:12-14; 1 CT 195:2-6; 1 CT 246:2-7.)² Delano Farms, for example, grows table grapes on 6,000 acres in Kern County, California. It ships only the grapes it grows and harvests itself, and sells under its own brand name. (13 CT 3106:25-3017:1.) Currently, Delano Farms ships more than six million boxes of table grapes every year, throughout the United States and in the export market. (13 CT

Plaintiffs filed separate complaints that were consolidated below. While the facts specific to each company differ slightly, the allegations pertinent to this appeal are materially the same. For ease of citation, this petition will hereinafter cite the Delano Farms' Amended Complaint, filed February 20, 2013.

3107:1-2.) As independent producers and marketers, Delano Farms and the other plaintiffs expend time, energy, and money to distinguish their fruit from that of other table grape growers and shippers in the industry. (13 CT 3107:1-6; 1 CT 159:7-14; 1 CT 195:6-16; 1 CT 246:9-13.) From their point of view, table grapes are not a commodity; they are products reflecting the distinctive *terroir*, care, and skill of their growers.³

Defendant-Respondent Table Grape Commission is a public corporation created under the Ketchum Act of 1967. (See Cal. Food & Agric. Code § 65550, et seq.) It is governed by a board composed of eighteen table grape growers—three from each of the state's six active grape-growing districts—and one "public member." (See id. § 65575.1.) These board members are elected by the table grape producers of each district, and then appointed by the Secretary of CDFA. (See id. § 65550.) The Ketchum Act empowers the commissioners to impose assessments on all producers of table grapes in California, which they use in their discretion for generic advertising, education, marketing, research, and government-relations efforts. (Delano Farms, 185 Cal.Rptr.3d at 773.)

This case was decided on summary judgment below, so all facts must be construed by the appellate court in the light more favorable to the plaintiffs. (Essex Ins. Co. v. Heck (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 1513, 1522; Brantley v. Pisaro (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 1591, 1601.)

California produces 400 agricultural crops, but only fifty three are regulated at all by a marketing order or commission. (8 CT 1746:2-8.) The authorities and degree of autonomy of each of these commissions is different. (See 8 CT 1746:12-19.) Only a handful of California's crops are subject to a mandatory generic advertising regime; tomatoes and oranges, for example, are not. (8 CT 1746:16-23.) Some advertising programs—like the California Pear Marketing Program—are conducted by an essentially advisory industry board that merely makes recommendations to CDFA, which in turn decides what policies to pursue.⁴ On the other end of the spectrum is the TGC, which, as a practical matter, functions with near-total autonomy. Other than the sole public member, the TGC commissioners are, by definition, competitors of these Plaintiffs, whose interests necessarily diverge. Nothing in the statutory scheme under which they operate precludes the commissioners from voting their own private interests.

The TGC operates independently of CDFA in a variety of ways. The statute grants the Commission the authority "[t]o adopt and from time to time alter, rescind, modify and amend all proper and necessary rules, regulations and orders for the exercise of its powers and the performance of its duties, including rules for regulation of appeals from any rule, regulation or order of

⁴ (See California Pear Marketing Program, available at http://www.cdfa.ca.gov/mkt/mkt/ordslaws.html.)

the commission." (Cal. Food & Agric. Code § 65572(b).) The Commission may "enter into any and all contracts and agreements, and to create such liabilities and borrow such funds in advance of receipt of assessments as may be necessary," (id. § 65572(e)), and it is a corporate entity that "shall have the power to sue and be sued, to contract and be contracted with, and to have and possess all of the powers of a corporation," (id. § 65551). Tellingly, the statute proclaims that "[t]he State of California shall not be liable for the acts of the commission or its contracts." (Id. § 65571.)

The Commission also has discretion, within a statutory cap, to set the rate of assessments that table grape growers are required to pay to fund the Commission's speech-related activities, including its promotional advertisement campaigns. (Id. §§ 65572(l), 65500(f).) The expenditure of these funds for promotional campaigns or "any other similar activities which the commission may determine appropriate for the maintenance and expansion of present markets and the creation of new and larger markets for fresh grapes," is left to "the discretion of the commission." (Id. § 65572(i).) In effect, the Commission requires all table grape growers to devote a portion of the resources available to product advertising to collective promotion of grapes as an undifferentiated commodity. The Commission has the power to sue producers for payment, civil penalties, or injunctive relief in the event of nonpayment of any assessment. (See id. §§ 65572(g), 65650.)

Over the past several years, the Commission has imposed an assessment on plaintiffs of about 13¢ per box of table grapes, which (depending on the plaintiff) has amounted to tens of thousands or hundreds of thousands of dollars a year in assessments, and, in some cases, millions of dollars aggregated over the entire term of the assessment regime. (13 CT 3108:1-14; 1 CT 158:24-160:6; 1 CT 196:7-14; 1 CT 246:14-247:10.) In the 2010-2011 fiscal year, table grape producers and shippers paid \$11,414,755 in assessments, a large portion of which was spent on speech-related activities, including paid advertising, education outreach, consumer research, and international marketing. (8 CT 1715:27-1718:27.) Delano Farms has been paying at least \$600,000 in assessments each year beginning with the 2000-2001 crop season. (13 CT 3108:5-9.)⁵ Any advertising or promotion of its own product is on top of this—and to the extent that Delano Farms' business strategy is to differentiate its product from that of its generic competitors, the Commission's generic message conflicts with Delano Farms' own message. (13 CT 3112:3-20.)

Most relevant to this lawsuit, the Commission has discretion over the content of promotional campaigns and is not required to seek the approval of

By agreement of the parties, plaintiffs' assessments since the beginning of this litigation have been deposited in plaintiff-specific and segregated escrow accounts, pending the outcome of the case. (See, e.g., 1 CT 177:9-12.)

the Secretary of CDFA before running its assessment-funded advertisements. (See Cal. Food & Agric. Code § 65572(h-k).) In fact, under the Ketchum Act, CDFA has authority to review the TGC advertising messages only upon petition from an "aggrieved party" and only for narrow legal defects: to determine whether the Commission's action is "not substantially sustained by the record, was an abuse of discretion, or illegal." (See id. § 65650.5.) Similarly, CDFA's own policy manual, under the heading "Non-routine Review," claims no general oversight power over the Commission but merely "reserves the right" for CDFA to "exercise exceptional review" of the Commission's advertisements. (3 CT 686 (emphasis added); see also Delano Farms, 185 Cal. Rptr.3d at 773-74.) But CDFA has never exercised even this non-routine, exceptional review. It is undisputed that "the Secretary and the CDFA have, in practice, performed virtually no supervision" of the Commission's activities generally, and have never overseen or approved the content of the Commission's advertisements. (Delano Farms, 586 F.3d at 1229-30.)

The record is also clear that the ads the Commission publishes are neither attributed to the State of California nor to the CDFA. (See 8 CT 1743:25-1744:2; 9 CT 2045:6-2046:7.) The ads all bear the same circular logo with the name "Grapes from California" on the perimeter, and a bundle of grapes in the middle. This logo gives the impression that the ads are the commercial message of California grape producers, or of a private company

whose branding emphasizes the homegrown character of its product. Many of the ads direct viewers or listeners to "grapesfromcalifornia.com," the TGC's website. (2 CT 448-467.) Tellingly, the URL for this website is .com—not ca.gov, as one would expect if the messages were governmental. There is no reason consumers would infer these messages flow from the state.

Moreover, the TGC's ads are entirely generic, making no distinction among the varieties and quality of grapes produced in California. This advances the notion that California grapes are all the same. (See 2 CT 448-467.) As the record demonstrates, some growers benefit and others lose from this sales approach, depending on whether they wish to differentiate their products from those of their competitors. (13 CT 3112:3-20.)

B. The Proceedings Below

Plaintiffs filed six complaints that were later consolidated in the Superior Court of California, County of Fresno, Central Division. Plaintiffs alleged that the "statutes authorizing the existence of the Commission, and the assessments imposed in accordance with the same," violated their rights under the free speech and free association clauses of Article I, Sections 2 and 3 of the California Constitution. (*See, e.g.*, 13 CT 3115:14-16.) They asserted that the assessments to fund the Commission's advertisements were an unconstitutional compelled subsidy of speech, which forced them to spend money in support of a message they did not agree with and that damaged

their business, which depends on developing and marketing table grapes of higher quality than those of their competitors. (13 CT 3112:3-20.)

During discovery, plaintiffs presented evidence to support their claim that the Commission's generic ads, by marketing all California table grapes collectively, and thus generically, harm their ability to promote and distinguish their own high-quality products. (*Cf. United States v. United Foods* (2001) 533 U.S. 405 (holding unconstitutional a federal statute that required mushroom handlers to fund a generic message inconsistent with their emphasis on the importance of the differences among branded products).) Plaintiffs argued that they should not be "forced to pay money to a group of competitors" to spend as those competitors wish even if "counterproductive" to plaintiffs' aims. (8 CT 1744:22-1745: 4, 1782:19-1783: 2.)

On May 22, 2013, the Superior Court granted the California Table Grape Commission's motion for summary judgment on the grounds that the Commission is a "government entity" whose speech is therefore government speech, the compelled subsidy of which does not violate the free speech clause. (See Delano Farms, 185 Cal.Rptr.3d at 774.) The California Court of Appeal, Fifth District, affirmed on alternative grounds. (See id. at 775-80.) The court deferred to the Ninth Circuit's decision in Delano Farms Co. v. California Table Grape Commission (9th Cir. 2009) 586 F.3d 1219, which had recently held that the same subsidies were immune from constitutional

review under the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution as interpreted by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Johanns v. Livestock Marketing Association* (2005) 544 U.S. 550. In *Johanns*, the Supreme Court held that the national Beef Board could compel subsidies of its promotional campaigns without First Amendment review because the messages conveyed in those campaigns were government speech.

Despite the fact that this Court had rendered two opinions setting forth the constitutional standards that govern compulsory agricultural marketing programs (*Gerawan I* and *Gerawan II*) the appellate court relied entirely on the analysis of the Ninth Circuit. The sole reference to this Court's decision in *Gerawan II* on the subject of government speech was one line stating: "As to the Secretary's government speech claim, the *Gerawan II* court concluded that it could not be resolved on the pleadings and required further factfinding." (*Delano Farms*, 185 Cal.Rptr.3d at 776.)⁶ In Discussion Sections 3 and 4, which contain the appellate court's legal analysis regarding government speech, the court never even mentioned *Gerawan I* or *Gerawan II*. It relied entirely on the Ninth Circuit and that court's misconstruction of *Johanns*.

As discussed below, even that one line should have been enough for the appellate court to know that it could not decide this case, as it did, on the face of the statute, but needed to evaluate the facts about CDFA's actual practice—namely, whether the CDFA in fact supervised or controlled TGC's messages.

Following the reasoning of the Ninth Circuit, the Court of Appeal concluded that the "Commission's activities could be classified as government speech" under Johanns in one of two ways: "if the Commission is itself a government entity or if the Commission's message is effectively controlled by the state." (Delano Farms, 185 Cal.Rptr.3d at 778.) The court did not reach the question whether the Commission is a government entity because it held that the government effectively controlled the Commission's speech. (Id. at 780.) The court conceded that "[u]nlike the Beef Order [in Johanns], the Ketchum Act does not require any type of review by the Secretary over the actual messages promulgated by the Commission." (Id. at 779.) Notwithstanding this lack of oversight, which differentiated this case from Johanns, the court concluded that it was sufficient that CDFA selects members of the Commission, and in its own policy manual "retains the authority to review the Commission's advertising" in exceptional circumstances. (Id. at 773-74.) Acknowledging the CDFA had never in fact reviewed the advertising content of the Commission, the court concluded: "Even if the Secretary does not exercise this authority and intervene in message development, he or she does not relinquish the power to do so." (Id. at 779.)

Petitioners filed a Petition for Review before this Court, which granted the petition on July 22, 2015.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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