SUPREME COURT FILED

#### **CASE NO. S226538**

OCT 2 2 2015

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

DELANO FARMS COMPANY, FOUR STAR FRUIT, INC., GERAWAN FARMING, INC., BIDART BROS., and BLANC VINEYARDS,

Petitioners,

v.

# THE CALIFORNIA TABLE GRAPE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F067956

On Appeal from the Superior Court for the State of California, County of Fresno, Case Nos. 636636-3 (lead case), 642546, 01CECG1127, 01CECG2292, 01CECG2289, and 11CECG0178, Hon. Donald S. Black

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

The power of appointment and removal also ensures that the lines of political accountability run directly to the Secretary. For example, imagine if the Commission ever ran an offensive message or otherwise deviated from its statutory mandate. Any resulting public outrage would be politically embarrassing to the Secretary, who would have to answer for the fact that her office had appointed all of the commissioners. The Secretary could also face public pressure to take corrective action, up to and including exercising her undisputed power of removal. The fact that the Commission has never given the Secretary occasion to exercise this form of control in no way negates the fact that the Commission remains "answerable to the Secretary" (*Johanns*, *supra*, 544 U.S. at 561) for any deviation from the message set by the Legislature.

Fourth, the Ketchum Act's grievance procedure further cements CDFA's control over the Commission's message. (Paramount Land Co. v. California Pistachio Comm'n (9th Cir. 2007) 491 F.3d 1003, 1011 [analogous grievance mechanism "demonstrate[s] the Secretary's control over the Commission"].) The Secretary is empowered, on the petition of an aggrieved party, to "reverse [an] action of the commission" if she finds that it was "not substantially sustained by the record, was an abuse of discretion, or illegal." (Food & Agric. Code §65650.5; see also id. §63902.)

Petitioners have utilized this grievance authority in the past on issues unrelated to the Commission's advertising; in fact, a petition by Petitioner Gerawan Farming led to the Secretary's reversal of Commission action.

(See CT-8:1735 [SF ¶78-79]; CT-8:1778 [Pl. Reply SSUMF ¶¶17-21].)<sup>12</sup>

Fifth, even in the absence of a grievance, CDFA retains the authority to review the Commission's advertising. CDFA's policy manual, *Policies for Marketing Programs* (4th ed. 2006), requires that Commission advertising be "Truthful," "In good taste," "Not disparaging," and "Consistent with statute." (CT-3:685 [Nave Decl. Ex. 8 at C-2].) In the

<sup>12</sup> The Commission's authority to challenge a reversal in court does not differentiate this situation from others in which disputes between government entities are litigated in court. (See, e.g., County of San Diego v. State (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 580; County of Colusa v. California Wildlife Conservation Bd. (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 637.)

manual, CDFA expressly "reserves the right to exercise exceptional review of advertising and promotion messages wherever it deems such review is warranted"—which "may include intervention in message development prior to placement of messages in a commercial medium or venue." (CT-3:686 [Id. at C-3].)

In their merits brief, Petitioners suggest that CDFA lacks authority to review the Commission's advertising messages absent a grievance. (Br. 10, 32.) Petitioners' contention is meritless. Nothing in the Ketchum Act supports Petitioners' assertion that the grievance procedure is the "only" means of CDFA review. (Br. 10; see Food & Agric. Code §65650.5.) Nor does it matter that CDFA's policy manual—which makes CDFA's authority explicit (CT-3:686 [Nave Decl. Ex. 8 at C-3])—may "lack[] the force of law" for purposes of *Chevron* deference or federal administrative law (Br. 32 [citing *Christensen v. Harris County* (2000) 529 U.S. 576, 587]). Because CDFA has the undisputed power to appoint and remove all of the Commission's board members, it certainly enjoys the lesser power to exercise direct review of specific Commission activities and advertisements.

Sixth, a number of additional regulatory mechanisms confirm that CDFA has effective control over the Commission's implementation of the Legislature's message. For example, the Ketchum Act provides that the Commission's "books, records and accounts shall be open to inspection and

audit" by the Department of Finance or any other state officer charged with the audit of operations of departments. (Food & Agric. Code §65572(f); see also CT-8:1736 [SF ¶89]; Delano Farms, supra, 586 F.3d at 1229 [citing Food & Agric. Code §65572(f)].) Pursuant to this statutory mandate, the Commission undergoes annual "compliance audits" conducted by a CDFA-approved firm that verifies, among other things, the Commission's adherence with CDFA's procedures. (CT-8:1736 [SF ¶90].) The results of these audits are then provided to CDFA for its review. (CT-2:357 [Pls Reply to CTGC SUMF ¶23].)

3. Petitioners' sweeping assertion that "the Secretary of CDFA has performed virtually no supervision of the [Table Grape Commission] in general, and exercised no oversight over its promotional campaigns in particular" simply ignores these comprehensive mechanisms of control.

(Br. 16; *see also id.* 32-33.)<sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Far from being "undisputed" (Br. 16, 32), Petitioners' assertions about a purported lack of oversight contradict their own stipulations. (*See*, e.g., CT-8:1736 [SF ¶90] [annual audits].) Similarly, while Petitioners cite to the 2006 deposition of CDFA's Marketing Branch Chief to suggest that the Commission has more "autonomy" than a marketing board (at 34), that testimony in fact explained that CDFA's "guidance and oversight ... with respect to the Table Grape Commission" is "[n]ot necessarily" less extensive than with respect to marketing orders. (CT 9:1941.) More fundamentally, Petitioners' unsupported contentions about lack of day-to-day control would fall flat even if Petitioners' theory of government speech had merit: Because Petitioners never moved for summary judgment, the

Petitioners also miss the mark when they suggest (at 23-24) that CDFA does not exercise control over the Commission's message because CDFA has not rejected any of the Commission's advertising. Petitioners have identified no instance in which the Commission has deviated from the Ketchum Act's generic-promotion mandate. Nor have they ever filed a grievance complaining to the Secretary about the Commission's advertising. In fact, they have stipulated that "[t]he Commission has not run political or ideological advertisements" and its "advertisements have not promoted products other than grapes." (CT-8:1721 [SF ¶28].) Absent evidence that the Secretary ever had cause to override the Commission, the fact that the Secretary has done so only on matters unrelated to speech in no way diminishes the Secretary's authority and effective control over the Commission's message. To the contrary, it indicates that the existing controls have been more than sufficient to ensure that the Commission discharges its statutory responsibilities correctly.

This Court's decision in *Gerawan II* is not to the contrary.

Petitioners assert (at 20, 27-29) that, after *Gerawan II*, nothing short of actual day-to-day involvement by CDFA in each communication issued by

Commission has had no occasion to show that it would prevail even on Petitioners' theory.

the Commission can establish "effective control" for government speech purposes. But *Gerawan II* did not set the metes and bounds of the government speech defense under the California Constitution. The Court merely identified potentially relevant considerations (*see Gerawan II*, *supra*, 33 Cal.4th at 27-28), and then remanded for further development (*id.* at 28). In the process, the Court simply noted that "[t]he kind of showing the government would be required to make has been *suggested* by the United States Supreme Court" in prior cases (*Gerawan II*, *supra*, 33 Cal.4th at 27 [emphasis added]), and that "there are factual questions that *may* be determinative" (*id.* at 28 [emphasis added]). It would make no sense to read *Gerawan II*'s illustrative overview of the "suggest[ions]" contained in *federal* decisions handed down prior to 2004 as defining an inflexible day-to-day control test for all future cases under California law. (*Id.* at 27-28.)

Nor does the *Gerawan II* Court's decision to remand signal that the government speech defense cannot be resolved as a matter of law. (Br. 28.) In *Gerawan II*, "[t]he Secretary's principal argument [was] that he must ultimately approve any generic advertising issued by the California Plum Marketing Board." (*Gerawan II*, *supra*, 33 Cal.4th at 26.) Gerawan countered with the argument that, among other things, "the Secretary's approval is a mere formality." (*Ibid.*) Faced with these dueling factual contentions arising from the particular theory of government speech argued in the case, the Court unsurprisingly accorded the parties the opportunity to

resolve the factual issues upon which *they* had clearly joined issue. In addition, the *Gerawan II* Court did not have the benefit of the views of the Court of Appeal, which had conducted only a truncated analysis of the government speech doctrine and found it inapplicable on different (subsequently rejected) grounds. (*See Gerawan Farming, supra*, 94 Cal.App.4th at 678-679.)

Moreover, *Gerawan II* was decided in 2004, *before* the U.S.

Supreme Court first applied the government speech defense in *Johanns* in 2005. Since the *Gerawan II* decision, *Johanns*, *Paramount*, *Delano Farms*, and *Gallo* have all clarified the test that applies to determine whether generic commodity advertising is government speech. As explained above, those subsequent decisions are irreconcilable with the notion that *Gerawan II* set forth the exclusive test for government speech. There is no reason to rewind the clock to 2004 and pretend those developments never happened.

Petitioners' attempt to manufacture conflict between the Court of Appeal's decision and *Johanns* is equally unavailing. Petitioners make much of the fact that, in *Johanns*, the "message set out in the beef promotions [was] from beginning to end the message established by the Federal Government." (Br. 22.) But while the Court used those words to describe one aspect of the beef program, *Johanns* made clear that it did not require any particular means of ensuring that a message remains subject to government control. Instead, as noted, the Court stressed that the beef

program's political safeguards were "more than adequate" to demonstrate effective control by the government. (Johanns, supra, 544 U.S. at 563 [emphasis added].) In fact, the very passage that Petitioners quote elsewhere in their brief as capturing Johanns' holding makes no mention of day-to-day intervention, and instead uses words that could accurately describe CDFA's oversight of the Commission: The "Secretary ..., a politically accountable official, oversees the program, appoints and dismisses the key personnel, and retains absolute veto power over the advertisements' content, right down to the wording." (Br. 23 [quoting Johanns, supra, 544 U.S. at 563 [emphasis added]].)

Before the Court of Appeal's decision in this case, the Ninth Circuit had already twice rejected the argument that *Johanns* requires day-to-day oversight. In applying *Johanns* to the California Pistachio Commission in *Paramount*, the Ninth Circuit concluded that *Johanns* "did not set a floor or define minimum requirements." (*Paramount*, *supra*, 491 F.3d at 1011; *see also ibid.* [government speech established even though "the Secretary of the CDFA exercises less control over the Pistachio Commission than the Secretary of Agriculture exercised over the Beef Board"].) As the court explained, "[t]o draw a line between [different levels of] oversight risks micro-managing legislative and regulatory schemes, a task federal courts are ill-equipped to undertake." (*Id.* at 1012.)

Then, in *Delano Farms*, the Ninth Circuit held that the California Table Grape Commission was constitutional under *Johanns* regardless of whether CDFA reviews and approves particular Commission ads. The court emphasized that the focus, as in *Paramount*, was on the State's "statutorily-authorized control," not the detailed history of bureaucratic intrusion or forbearance. (*Supra*, 586 F.3d at 1230; *see also id.* at 1227 ["*Johanns* did not set a floor or define minimum requirements." [internal quotation marks omitted]].)

The U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in *Walker v. Texas*Division (2015) 135 S. Ct. 2239—which rejected a First Amendment challenge on government speech grounds—casts no doubt on these holdings. (Br. 23-24.) *Walker* involved a challenge to Texas' refusal to issue a specialty license plate proposed by a private party, the Sons of Confederate Veterans. (Supra, 135 S. Ct. at 2244-2246.) *Walker* was not a compelled subsidy case at all, and it certainly did not involve a challenge to a statutorily predefined message. (Compare id. at 2244-2245, 2250 [challenge involved designs "initially proposed by private parties"], with supra pp. 36-37 [Ketchum Act's detailed promotional message].) This distinction matters. Regardless of whether active review by the State is required before a privately designed message (such as the Sons of Confederate Veterans' proposed license plate) becomes government speech, there is no reason to require the same degree of government

involvement when the Legislature itself has preset the message (here, the generic promotion of table grapes). (See supra pp. 36-37.) The simple prospect of CDFA review—coupled with CDFA's appointment and power to remove each Commissioner and countless other safeguards (see supra pp. 35-41)—more than adequately addresses any risk that the Commission might deviate from its statutorily defined message.<sup>14</sup>

Finally, there is no merit to Petitioners' apparent suggestion that *Gerawan Farming, Inc. v. Lyons* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 468 ("*Gerawan I*") requires a thumb on the scale against the government speech doctrine under the California Constitution. (Br. 30.) *Gerawan I* addressed a different question and expressly *declined* to reach the issue of government speech. (*Supra*, 24 Cal.4th at 515 n.13). In addition, this Court has repeatedly rejected the notion that the Free Speech Clause is "broader than the First Amendment in all its applications." (*E.g.*, *Beeman v. Anthem Prescription Mgmt.*, *LLC* (2013) 58 Cal.4th 329, 341 [quoting *Los Angeles Alliance for Survival v. City of Los Angeles* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 352, 366].) Indeed, this Court has specifically stated: "In the compelled speech context, we have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Even in the specialty plate context, *Walker* did not purport to make active review by the State of each proposed specialty plate a necessary requirement of government speech. The State's review process was merely one of multiple "considerations" which, "taken together," convinced the Court that Texas' specialty plate program was constitutional. (*Walker*, *supra*, 135 S. Ct. at 2249.)

looked to *First Amendment* case law for persuasive guidance when confronted with a paucity of state constitutional doctrine." (*Id.* at 346.)

This Court should decline Petitioners' invitation to split with the Ninth Circuit on the proper interpretation of *Johanns*. The Court of Appeal and the Ninth Circuit have adhered to the common-sense principle that the State's *authority to control* the message carries with it government accountability, especially where the Legislature itself sets out the contours of that message. If growers or the public do not like the message, they can cast their votes accordingly. (*Southworth*, *supra*, 529 U.S. at 235.) But Petitioners cannot bypass that democratic process and decline to pay their statutorily imposed assessments simply because they purportedly disagree with the Legislature's conclusion that generic advertising of California table grapes benefits the State's economy. "Were the Free Speech Clause interpreted" to provide such an opt-out for dissenting taxpayers, "government would not work." (*Walker*, *supra*, 135 S. Ct. at 2246.)

## C. GOVERNMENT SPEECH DOES NOT REQUIRE ATTRIBUTION

Perhaps recognizing the weakness of their day-to-day control theory, Petitioners now attempt to argue that the Commission cannot invoke the government speech doctrine because its advertisements are not clearly "attributed to the State." (Br. 36; *see also id.* 25-27, 35-37.) Petitioners never raised this attribution argument in their briefing before the Court of

Appeal. The argument is therefore waived. (*Galvaldon v*. DaimlerChrsyler Corp. (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1246, 1265 ["As a general rule, we address only issues that have been raised in the Court of Appeal."]; Cedars-Sinai Med. Center v. Superior Court (1998) 18 Cal.4th 1, 6; Cal. Sup. Ct. Rule 8.500(c)(1).)

In any event, Petitioners' attribution theory fails on the merits.

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